

EVOLENT CLINICAL GUIDELINE 004-1 FOR BRAIN СТА

Guideline or Policy Number: NIA <u>Evolent</u> CG_004-1	Applicable Codes	
Copyright of Guideline: © 2024-"Evolent" refers to Evolent Health LLC and Evolent Specialty Services, Inc. © 1997 - 2025 Evolent. All rights Reserved.		
Original Date: September 1997	Last Revised Date: June 2024	Implementation Date: January 2025

TABLE OF CONTENTS

STATEMENT	.3
GENERAL INFORMATION PURPOSE SPECIAL NOTE INDICATIONS FOR BRAIN CTA	.3 .3
Evaluation of Suspected Intracranial Vascular Disease Aneurysm Screening Vascular Abnormalities Cerebrovascular Disease	.4 .4 .5
Vasculitis and Other Intracranial Vascular Disease Evaluation of Known Intracranial Vascular Disease Pre-operative/procedural Evaluation Post-operative/procedural Evaluation	. 6 . 6
FURTHER EVALUATION OF INDETERMINATE FINDINGS GENETIC SYNDROMES AND RARE DISEASES COMBINATION STUDIES	.6 .7 .7
Brain CT and/or Brain CTA Brain CT and/or Brain CTA and/or Neck CTA Brain CTA and/or Neck CTA Brain/Neck/Chest/Abdomen/Pelvis CTA	. 8 . 8 . 9
CODING AND STANDARDS	.9
CPT Codes Applicable Lines of Business	. 9
GENERAL OVERVIEW	11 11



CTA and Recent Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack	
CTA and Intracerebral Hemorrhage	12
CTV and Central Venous Thrombosis**	13
CTA and Dissection	
Contraindications and Preferred Studies	
ACRONYMS / ABBREVIATIONS	14
POLICY HISTORY	14
Summary	14
LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE	
GUIDELINE APPROVAL	17
Committee	
DISCLAIMER	
REFERENCES	18



STATEMENT

General Information

It is an expectation that all patients receive care/services from a licensed clinician. All appropriate supporting documentation, including recent pertinent office visit notes, laboratory data, and results of any special testing must be provided. If applicable: All prior relevant imaging results and the reason that alternative imaging cannot be performed must be included in the documentation submitted.

Where a specific clinical indication is not directly addressed in this guideline, medical necessity determination will be made based on widely accepted standard of care criteria. These criteria are supported by evidence-based or peer-reviewed sources such as medical literature, societal guidelines and state/national recommendations.

Purpose

Indications for performing computed tomography angiography (CTA) in the head/brain region.

NOTE: Authorization for CT Angiography covers both arterial and venous imaging. The term angiography refers to both arteriography and venography

Special Note

Brain CT/CTA are not approvable simultaneously unless they meet the criteria described below in the Indications for Brain CT/Brain CTA combination studies section. If there is a combination request* for an overlapping body part, either requested at the same time or sequentially (within the past 3 months) the results of the prior study should be:

- Inconclusive or show a need for additional or follow up imaging evaluation **OR**
- The office notes should clearly document an indication why overlapping imaging is needed and how it will change management for the patient.

(*Unless approvable in the <u>combination section</u> as noted in the guidelines) Patients with claustrophobia, limited ability to cooperate, an implanted device or in an urgent scenario may be better suited for CTA; whereas those with renal disease or iodine contrast allergy should have MRA.



INDICATIONS FOR BRAIN CTA

Evaluation of Suspected Intracranial Vascular Disease^(1,2)

Aneurysm Screening

- Screening for intracranial aneurysm if two or more first-degree family members (parent, brother, sister, or child) of intracranial aneurysm ⁽¹⁾
 - Note: Repeat study is recommended every 5-7 years (3)
- For one first degree relative with aneurysm, asymptomatic screening is not indicated would require a neurological sign or symptom supporting clinical concern for aneurysm. ^(4,5,6)
- Screening for aneurysm in polycystic kidney disease (in adults), Loeys-Dietz syndrome^{‡ (3)}, fibromuscular dysplasia, spontaneous coronary arteries dissection (SCAD) ^(4,5), or knownhigh-risk populations ^(1,7,8,9,10,11,12):

o KNOWN genetic syndromes (see Genetic Syndromes and Rare Diseases)

o Bicuspid aortic valve

Known aortic diseases (aneurysm, coarctation (after age 10), dissection)
 [‡]For Loeys-Dietz, imaging should be repeated at least every two years

Vascular Abnormalities

- Suspected vascular malformation (arteriovenous malformation (AVM) or dural arteriovenous fistula) in patient with previous or indeterminate imaging study ⁽²⁾
- Thunderclap headache with continued concern for underlying vascular abnormality (i.e., aneurysm or reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome) after initial negative brain imaging. ^(13,14,15,16)
 - Note: Negative brain CT < 6 hours after headache onset excludes subarachnoid hemorrhage in neurologically intact patients ⁽¹⁵⁾. MRI lacks sensitivity in excluding subarachnoid hemorrhage less than 24 hours after headache onset. ^(13,17)
- Headache associated with exercise, exertion, Valsalva or sexual activity (13)
- Isolated third nerve palsy (oculomotor) with pupil involvement to evaluate for aneurysm ^(18,19)
- Horner's syndrome, non-central (miosis, ptosis, and anhidrosis) (20)
- Pulsatile tinnitus to identify a suspected arterial vascular etiology (21,22)

Note: MRI is the study of choice for detecting low flow malformations (see <u>background</u> section) ⁽²⁾



Cerebrovascular Disease

Ischemic

- Recent ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack (See <u>background</u> section) (23,24)
 - **Note**: For remote strokes with no prior vascular imaging, imaging can be considered based on location/type of stroke and documented potential to change management
- Known or suspected vertebrobasilar insufficiency (VBI) in patients with symptoms such as dizziness, vertigo, headaches, diplopia, blindness, vomiting, ataxia, weakness in both sides of the body, or abnormal speech. ^(25,26,27,28)
- Suspected carotid or vertebral artery dissection; secondary to trauma or spontaneous due to weakness of vessel wall ^(29,30)
- Suspected cerebral vasospasm (1)

Hemorrhagic

- Known subarachnoid hemorrhage (SAH) ^(1,2)
- Known cerebral intraparenchymal hemorrhage with concern for underlying vascular abnormality ^(2,24)

Venous and MRV is contraindicated or cannot be performed (31) – <u>CTV**</u>

- Suspected venous thrombosis (dural sinus thrombosis) (24)
- Distinguishing benign intracranial hypertension (pseudotumor cerebri) from dural sinus thrombosis ⁽¹⁶⁾

Sickle cells disease (ischemic and/or hemorrhagic) and MRA is contraindicated or cannot be performed ⁽³²⁾

- Neurological signs or symptoms in sickle cell disease
- Stroke risk in sickle cell patients (2 16 years of age) with a transcranial doppler velocity > 200

Vasculitis with initial laboratory Workupand Other Intracranial Vascular Disease

- Suspected secondary CNS vasculitis based on neurological signs or symptoms in the setting of an underlying systemic disease with abnormal inflammatory markers or autoimmune antibodies ⁽¹⁾
- Suspected primary CNS vasculitis based on neurological signs and symptoms with completed infectious/inflammatory lab work-up ^(1,33,34)
- Large vessel vasculitis (Giant cell or Takayasu arteritis) with suspected intracranial involvement ^(35,36,37,38,39)
- Suspected Moyamoya disease (40,41)

Page 5 of 22



• Suspected reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome (16,42)

Note: Vessel wall MRI (ordered as Brain MRI) can also be performed in the evaluation of vasculitides ⁽⁴³⁾

Evaluation of Known Intracranial Vascular Disease^(1,2)

- Known intracranial aneurysm, treated aneurysm, or known vascular malformation (i.e., AVM or dural arteriovenous fistula)
- Known vertebrobasilar insufficiency with new or worsening signs or symptoms (VBI) (25,26,28)
- Follow-up of known carotid or vertebral artery dissection within 3-6 months for evaluation of recanalization and/or to guide anticoagulation treatment ^(44,45)
- Known vasculitis, reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome or Moyamoya disease (2,34,46,47,48)

Pre-operative/procedural Evaluation

- Pre-operative evaluation for a planned surgery or procedure
- <u>Refractory trigeminal neuralgia or hemifacial spasm when done for surgical</u>
 <u>evaluation (49,50)</u>

Post-operative/procedural Evaluation (51,52)

• Follow-up study may be needed to help evaluate a patient's progress after treatment, procedure, intervention, or surgery. Documentation requires a medical reason that clearly indicates why additional imaging is needed for the type and area(s) requested.

Further Evaluation of Indeterminate Findings

Unless follow up is otherwise specified within the guideline

- For initial evaluation of an inconclusive finding on a prior imaging report (i.e., x-ray, <u>ultrasound or CT)</u> that requires further clarification
- One follow-up exam of a prior indeterminate MR/CT finding to ensure no suspicious interval change has occurred. (No further surveillance unless specified as highly suspicious or change was found on last follow-up exam.)

evolent

Genetic Syndromes and Rare Diseases

- For patients with fibromuscular dysplasia (FMD):^(53,54)
 - o One-time vascular study from brain to pelvis
- Vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome: (55,56)
 - At diagnosis and then every 18 months
 - o More frequently if abnormalities are found
- Loeys-Dietz: (57)
 - o At diagnosis and then every two years
 - More frequently if abnormalities are found
- Spontaneous coronary arteries dissection (SCAD) (12)
 - o One-time vascular study from brain to pelvis
- Takayasu's Arteritis:(39)
 - o For evaluation at diagnosis then as clinically indicated
- For other syndromes and rare diseases not otherwise addressed in the guideline, coverage is based on a case-by-case basis using societal guidance

Combination Studies

Brain CT and/or Brain CTA

- Recent ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA) when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed ^(23,24)
- Acute, sudden onset of headache with personal history of a vascular abnormality or first-degree family history of aneurysm ^(1,16)
- Thunderclap headache >6 hours after onset in an acute setting with high suspicion of SAH ⁽¹⁶⁾
- Headache associated with exercise, exertion, Valsalva or sexual activity when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed ⁽¹³⁾
- Suspected venous thrombosis (dural sinus thrombosis) and MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed ⁽²⁴⁾ – <u>CT/CTV</u>**
- Neurological signs or symptoms in sickle cell patients when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed ⁽⁵⁸⁾
- High stroke risk in sickle cell patients (2 16 years of age) with a transcranial doppler velocity > 200 when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed ⁽⁵⁸⁾
- Known Moyamoya disease ^(2,41) or reversible cerebral vasoconstriction with any new or changing neurological signs or symptoms ^(16,42)

Page 7 of 22



- Suspected secondary CNS vasculitis based on neurological signs or symptoms in the setting of an underlying systemic disease with abnormal inflammatory markers or autoimmune antibodies when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed ⁽¹⁾
- Suspected primary CNS vasculitis based on neurological signs and symptoms with completed infectious/inflammatory lab work-up when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed ^(1,33,34)

Brain CT and/or Brain CTA and/or Neck CTA

- Recent ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack (TIA) ^(23,24) when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed.
- Suspected or known carotid or vertebral artery dissection with focal or lateralizing neurological deficits
- Approved indications as noted above and being performed in high-risk populations (in whom MRI is contraindicated or cannot be performed) and will need anesthesia for the procedure and there is a suspicion of concurrent intracranial pathology

***Note**: MRA and CTA are generally comparable noninvasive imaging alternatives each with their own advantages and disadvantages. Brain MRI can alternatively be combined with Brain CTA/Neck CTA.

Brain CTA and/or Neck CTA

- Recent ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack (see background) (23,24)
 - **Note:** For remote strokes with no prior vascular imaging, imaging can be considered based on location/type of stroke and documented potential to change management
- Known or suspected vertebrobasilar insufficiency (VBI) in patients with symptoms such as dizziness, vertigo, headaches, diplopia, blindness, vomiting, ataxia, weakness in both sides of the body, or abnormal speech ^(25,26,27,28)
- Suspected carotid ⁽⁵⁹⁾ or vertebral ⁽⁶⁰⁾ artery dissection; secondary to trauma ⁽⁶¹⁾ or spontaneous due to weakness of vessel wall ^(24,62,63)
- Follow-up of known carotid or vertebral artery dissection within 3-6 months for evaluation of recanalization and/or to guide anticoagulation treatment ^(64,65,66)
- Asymptomatic patients with an abnormal ultrasound of the neck or carotid duplex imaging (e.g., carotid stenosis ≥ 70%, technically limited study, aberrant direction of flow in the carotid or vertebral arteries) and patient is surgery or angioplasty candidate ^(67,68,69)
- Symptomatic patients with an abnormal ultrasound of the neck or carotid duplex imaging (e.g., carotid stenosis ≥ 50%, technically limited study, aberrant direction of



flow in the carotid or vertebral arteries) and patient is surgery or angioplasty candidate $^{\scriptscriptstyle{(68,70)}}$

- Pulsatile tinnitus to identify a suspected arterial vascular etiology (21,22)
- Large vessel vasculitis (Giant cell or Takayasu arteritis) with suspected intracranial and extracranial involvement

Brain/Neck/Chest/Abdomen/Pelvis CTA

- For patients with fibromuscular dysplasia (FMD), a one-time vascular study from brain to pelvis ^(53,54)
- Vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome: At diagnosis and then every 18 months; more frequently if abnormalities are found ^(55,56)
- Loeys-Dietz: at diagnosis and then every two years, more frequently if abnormalities are found ⁽⁵⁷⁾
- For assessment in patients with spontaneous coronary artery dissection (SCAD), can be done at time of coronary angiography ⁽⁷¹⁾

CODING AND STANDARDS

Coding

CPT Codes

70496

Applicable Lines of Business

\boxtimes	CHIP (Children's Health Insurance Program)
\boxtimes	Commercial
\boxtimes	Exchange/Marketplace
\boxtimes	Medicaid
\square	Medicare Advantage



BACKGROUND

General Overview

CTA for Evaluation of Aneurysm

CTA is useful in the detection of cerebral aneurysms. The sensitivity of CTA to detect cerebral aneurysms \leq 5 mm is higher than that with digital subtraction angiography (DSA). Most aneurysms missed with CTA are \leq 3mm. Aneurysms in the region of the anterior clinoid process may extend into the subarachnoid space where they carry the threat of hemorrhage. CTA can help delineate the borders of the aneurysm in relation to the subarachnoid space and may help detect acute ruptured aneurysms. It may be used in the selection of patients for surgical or endovascular treatment of ruptured intracranial aneurysms.

CTA for Screening of Patients with First-degree relative having Aneurysm

Data has suggested that individuals with a parent, brother, sister, or child harboring an intracranial aneurysm are at increased risk of aneurysms. It is likely that multiple genetic and environmental risk factors contribute to the increased risk.

CTA and PCKD

Screening imaging every 5 years, and annual follow-up imaging in patients in with a known intracranial aneurysm is recommended. The current literature recommends initial screening by the age of 30 years and earlier if there is a strong family history of intracranial aneurysm. Screening is generally not recommended is the pediatric population (less than 18 years). No upper age limit for screening patients with ADPKD has been recommended.

CTA for Evaluation of Arteriovenous Malformation

A good correlation has been found between catheter angiography and CTA in the detection of arteriovenous malformations. CTA allows calculation of the volume of an AVM nidus and identifies and quantifies embolic material within it. CTA may be used for characterization and stereotactic localization before surgical resection or radiosurgical treatment of arteriovenous malformations.

Computed tomography angiography (CTA) is recognized as a valuable diagnostic tool for the management of patients with cerebrovascular disease. With its three-dimensional reconstructions, CTA can simultaneously demonstrate the bony skull base and its related vasculature. CTA's use of ionizing radiation and an iodine-based intravascular contrast medium is a disadvantage when compared to magnetic resonance angiography (MRA), but it is quicker and requires less patient cooperation than MRA. CTA is much less invasive than catheter angiography which involves injecting contrast material into an artery.



CTA and Non-Aneurysmal Vascular Malformations

Non-aneurysmal vascular malformations can be divided into low flow vascular malformations and high flow vascular malformations. Low flow vascular malformations include dural venous anomalies (DVA), cavernomas, and capillary telangiectasias. High flow vascular malformations include AVM and dural arteriovenous fistulas (dAVF). For low flow malformations, MRI is the study of choice. There is limited medical literature to support vascular imagining (CTA or MRA). CTA plays a limited role in the assessment of cavernoma but may be used to demonstrate a DVA. MRA is not usually helpful in the assessment of cavernoma, capillary telangiectasia, and DVA. Vascular imaging is indicated in high flow vascular malformations. (1,2,72)

There is no evidence to support screening of first-degree relatives for AVMs ⁽⁷³⁾. The risk of having an AVM may be higher than in the general population, but absolute risk is low.

Pulsatile tinnitus

Pulsatile tinnitus has many etiologies, and the choice of study should be based on accompanying signs and symptoms. For general screening MRI brain with IAC/MRA brain and neck is approvable. If IIIH is suspected (typically with headache and vision changes in a younger woman with a high BMI), MRI/MRV brain is indicated. If there is concern for vascular etiology, CTA or MRA brain/neck is indicated. If there is associated hearing loss and neurological signs/symptoms, MRI brain with IAC is indicated. If the temporal bone is suspected to be involved and/or retrotympanic lesion seen on otoscopy, CT temporal bone/IAC is indicated. If there is concurrent concern for boney and a vascular issue, CTA of the head and neck can be used to evaluate both.

MRA vs CTA for CVA

Preferred vascular imaging of the head and neck includes non-contrast head MRA and contrast-enhanced neck MRA. MRA may not be able to be performed in patients with claustrophobia, morbid obesity, or implanted device, but it can be useful in patients with renal failure or contrast allergies. In patients with high radiation exposure, MRA as an alternative should be considered. For acute stroke, CTA is preferred after CT (to rule of hemorrhage) and to look for thrombus/possible intervention that is time sensitive. ^(2,24)

CTA and Recent Stroke or Transient Ischemic Attack

- A stroke or central nervous system infarction is defined as "brain, spinal cord, or retinal cell death attributable to ischemia, based on neuropathological, neuroimaging, and/or clinical evidence of permanent injury. ... Ischemic stroke specifically refers to central nervous system infarction accompanied by overt symptoms, whereas silent infarction causes no known symptoms".
- If imaging or pathology is not available, a clinical stroke is diagnosed by symptoms persisting for more than 24 hours. Ischemic stroke can be further classified by the

Page 11 of 22 Evolent Clinical Guideline 004-1 for Brain CTA



type and location of ischemia and the presumed etiology of the brain injury. These include large-artery atherosclerotic occlusion (extracranial or intracranial), cardiac embolism, small-vessel disease and less commonly dissection, hypercoagulable states, sickle cell disease and undetermined causes.

- TIAs in contrast, "are a brief episode of neurological dysfunction caused by focal brain or retinal ischemia, with clinical symptoms typically lasting less than one hour, and without evidence of acute infarction on imaging". On average, the annual risk of future ischemic stroke after a TIA or initial ischemic stroke is 3–4%, with an incidence as high as 11% over the next 7 days and 24–29% over the following 5 years. This has significantly decreased in the last half century due to advances in secondary prevention.
- When revascularization therapy is not indicated or available in patients with an ischemic stroke or TIA, the focus of the work-up is on secondary prevention. This includes noninvasive vascular imaging to identify the underlying etiology, assess immediate complications and risk of future stroke. The majority of stroke evaluations take place in the inpatient setting. Admitting TIA patients is reasonable if they present within 72 hours and have an ABCD (2) score ≥ 3, indicating high risk of early recurrence, or the evaluation cannot be rapidly completed on an outpatient basis. Minimally, both Both stroke and TIA should have an evaluation for high-risk modifiable factors such as carotid stenosis atrial fibrillation as the cause of ischemic symptoms. ⁽⁷⁴⁾. Diagnostic recommendations include neuroimaging evaluation as soon as possible, preferably with magnetic resonance imaging, including DWI; noninvasive imaging of the extracranial vessels should be performed, and noninvasive imaging of intracranial vessels is reasonable. ⁽⁷⁵⁾
- Patients with a history of stroke and recent work-up with new signs or symptoms indicating progression or complications of the initial CVA should have repeat brain imaging as an initial study. Patients with remote or silent strokes discovered on imaging should be evaluated for high-risk modifiable risk factors based on the location and type of the presumed etiology of the brain injury.

CTA for Evaluation of Vertebrobasilar Insufficiency

Multidetector CT angiography (MDCTA) may be used in the evaluation of vertebral artery pathologies. The correlation between MDCTA and color Doppler sonography is moderate. CTA is used for minimally invasive follow-up after intracranial stenting for VBI. It enables visualization of the patency of the stent lumen and provides additional information about all brain arteries and the brain parenchyma.

CTA and Intracerebral Hemorrhage (76)

CTA is useful as a screening tool for an underlying vascular abnormality in the evaluation of spontaneous intracerebral hemorrhage (ICH). Etiologies of spontaneous ICH include tumor, vascular malformation, aneurysm, hypertensive arteriopathy, cerebral amyloid angiopathy,

Page 12 of 22 Evolent Clinical Guideline 004-1 for Brain CTA



venous thrombosis, vasculitis, RCVS, drug-induced vasospasm, venous sinus thrombosis, Moyamoya disease, anticoagulant use and hemorrhagic transformation of an ischemic infarct. History can help point to a specific etiology. Possible risk factors for the presence of underlying vascular abnormalities include age younger than 65, female, lobar or intraventricular location, and the absence of hypertension or impaired coagulation.

CTV and Central Venous Thrombosis**

CT Venogram is indicated for the evaluation of a central venous thrombosis/dural sinus thrombosis. The most frequent presentations are isolated headache, intracranial hypertension syndrome, seizures, focal neurological deficits, and encephalopathy. Risk factors are hypercoagulable states inducing genetic prothrombotic conditions, antiphospholipid syndrome and other acquired prothrombotic diseases, such as cancer, oral contraceptives, pregnancy, puerperium (6 weeks postpartum), infections, and trauma. Since venous thrombosis can cause SAH, infarctions, and hemorrhage, parenchymal imaging with MRI/CT is also appropriate. ^(31,77,78,79)

CTA and Dissection

Craniocervical dissections can be spontaneous or traumatic. Patients with blunt head or neck trauma who meet Denver Screening criteria should be assessed for cerebrovascular injury (although about 20% will not meet criteria). The criteria include: focal or lateralizing neurological deficits (not explained by head CT), infarct on head CT, face, basilar skull, or cervical spine fractures, cervical hematomas that are not expanding, Glasgow coma score less than 8 without CT findings, massive epistaxis, cervical bruit or thrill. ^(62,80,81,82)

Spontaneous dissection presents with headache, neck pain with neurological signs or symptoms. There is often minor trauma or precipitating factor (i.e., exercise, neck manipulation). Dissection is thought to occur due to weakness of the vessel wall, and there may be an underlying connective tissue disorder. Dissection of the extracranial vessels can extend intracranially and/or lead to thrombus which can migrate into the intracranial circulation causing ischemia. Therefore, vascular imaging of the head and neck is warranted. (63,83)

Contraindications and Preferred Studies

- Contraindications and reasons why a CT/CTA cannot be performed may include: impaired renal function, significant allergy to IV contrast, pregnancy (depending on trimester).
- Contraindications and reasons why an MRI/MRA cannot be performed may include: impaired renal function, claustrophobia, non-MRI compatible devices (such as noncompatible defibrillator or pacemaker), metallic fragments in a high-risk location, patient exceeds weight limit/dimensions of MRI machine.



Acronyms / Abbreviations

ADPKD: Autosomal Dominant Polycystic Kidney Disease **AVM: Arteriovenous Malformation** CNS: Central Nervous System CTA: Computed Tomography Angiography CTV: Computed Tomography Venography **CVA: Cerebrovascular Accident** dAVF: Dural Arteriovenous Fistulas **DVA: Dural Venous Anomalies** IAC: Internal Auditory Canal ICH: Intracerebral Hemorrhage MRA: Magnetic Resonance Angiography MRI: Magnetic Resonance Imaging MRV: Magnetic Resonance Venography SCAD: Spontaneous Coronary Arteries Dissection SAH: Subarachnoid Hemorrhage VBI: Vertebrobasilar Insufficiency **TIA: Transient Ischemic Attack**

POLICY HISTORY

Summary

Date	Summary
June 2024	 Updated references
	 Updated background section
	 Updated combination section
	Clarified
	 Frequency of screening in genetic syndromes
	Added
	 Screening for aneurysm in high-risk populations
	Bicuspid aortic valve
	Known aortic diseases (aneurysm, coarctation,
	dissection)
	 Suspected cerebral vasospasm
	 Suspected carotid or vertebral artery dissection;
	secondary to trauma or spontaneous due to weakness of
	vessel wall (already in combo)
	 Follow-up of known carotid or vertebral artery dissection
	within 3-6 months for evaluation of recanalization and/or to
	guide anticoagulation treatment (already in combo)
	 Horner's syndrome, non-central (miosis, ptosis, and applidragic), also in combo contian
	 <u>anhidrosis</u>) - also in combo section Genetic syndromes and rare disease section.
	 Genetic syndromes and rare disease section.



	o Refractory trigeminal neuralgia or hemifacial spasm when
	done for surgical evaluation
	 Note: For remote strokes with no prior vascular imaging,
	imaging can be considered based on location/type of
	stroke and documented potential to change management
	 To combo CT/CTA section Thunderclap headache >6
	hours after onset in an acute setting with high suspicion of
	SAH
	 Large vessel vasculitis (Giant cell or Takayasu arteritis)
	with suspected intracranial and extracranial involvement
	(Brain/Neck CTA combo)
	 Known Moyamoya disease or eversible cerebral
	vasoconstriction with any new or changing neurological
	signs or symptoms (Brain CTA/Brain CT combo
	 Suspected secondary CNS vasculitis based on
	neurological signs or symptoms in the setting of an
	underlying systemic disease with abnormal inflammatory
	markers or autoimmune antibodies (Brain CTA /CT
	combo) when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be
	performed
	 Suspected primary CNS vasculitis based on neurological
	signs and symptoms with completed
	infectious/inflammatory lab work-up ((Brain CTA /CT
	combo) when MRI is contraindicated or cannot be
	performed
	<u>Deleted</u>
May 2022	<u>Pulsatile tinnitus combo section</u>
May 2023	Updated and reformatted references Updated background section
•	General Information moved to beginning of guideline with added statement on clinical indications not addressed in this
	guideline
	Added statement regarding further evaluation of indeterminate
•	findings on prior imaging
	Added:
•	 Section on further evaluation of indeterminate or
	questionable findings on prior imaging
	 Follow-up of known carotid or vertebral artery dissection
	within 3-6 months for evaluation of recanalization and/or to
	guide anticoagulation treatment
	 Note: For remote strokes with no prior vascular imaging,
	imaging can be considered based on location/type of
	stroke and documented potential to change management
	(also in combo section)
	 Note on CTA VS MRA
	Clarified:



F	
	 Screening for aneurysm in polycystic kidney disease (in adults)
	 adults) Screening for intracranial aneurysm if two or more first- degree family members (parent brother, sister, or child) with history of intracranial aneurysm For one first degree relative with aneurysm, asymptomatic screening is not indicated - would require a neurological sign or symptom supporting clinical concern for aneurysm. Thunderclap headache with continued concern for underlying vascular abnormality (i.e., aneurysm or reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndrome) after initial negative brain imaging Note: MRI lacks sensitivity in excluding subarachnoid hemorrhage less than 24 hours after headache onset
	• Headache associated with exercise, exertion, Valsalva or
	sexual activity (Also in Combo Brain CT/CTA)
	• Deleted:
	 Vascular abnormality visualized on previous brain
	imaging that is equivocal or needs further evaluation
March 2022	 Updated and reformatted references
	 Added New combo statement
	 Updated background
	Clarified:
	 Aneurysm screening in aortic coarctation after age 10
	 MRI is the study of choice for detecting low flow
	vascular malformations (see background)
	 Follow-up of known intracranial aneurysm, treated
	aneurysm, or known vascular malformation
	 Pulsatile tinnitus to identify a suspected arterial
	vascular etiology
	 Combo studies- CVA/TIA when MRI is contraindicated
	or cannot be performed
	Changed:
	Thunderclap headache with continued concern for
	underlying vascular abnormality after initial negative brain
	imaging > 6 hours after onset
	Added:
	Brain MRI/Brain MRA combination (when MRI
	contraindicated)
	Neurological signs or symptoms in sickle cell patients
	 Neurological signs or symptoms in sickle cell patients High stroke risk in sickle cell patients (2 - 16 years of age) with a transcranial doppler velocity > 200

evolent

LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE

Guideline Approval

Committee

Reviewed / Approved by NIAEvolent Specialty Clinical Guideline Review Committee

Disclaimer

National Imaging Associates, Inc. (NIA) authorization policies Evolent Clinical Guidelines do not constitute medical advice and are not intended to govern or otherwise influence the practice of medicine. These policies are not meant to supplant your normal procedures, evaluation,. Treating health care professionals are solely responsible for diagnosis, treatment and/or care plans for your patients. Your professional judgement must be exercised and followed in all respects with regard to the treatment and care of your patients. These policies apply to all Evolent Health LLC subsidiaries including, but not limited to, National Imaging Associates ("NIA"). The policies constitute only the reimbursement and coverage guidelines of NIA., and medical advice. Evolent uses Clinical Guidelines in accordance with its contractual obligations to provide utilization management. Coverage for services varies for individual members in accordance with according to the terms and conditions of applicable Certificates of Coverage, of their health care coverage or government program. Individual members' health care coverage may not utilize some Evolent Clinical Guidelines. A list of procedure codes, services or drugs may not be all inclusive and does not imply that a service Plan Descriptions, or contracts with governing regulatory agencies. NIA drug is a covered or non-covered service or drug. Evolent reserves the right to review and update the guidelines at this Clinical Guideline in its sole discretion. Notice of suchany changes, if necessary, shall be provided in accordance with the terms and conditions of as required by applicable provider agreements and any applicable laws or regulations. Members should contact their Plan customer service representative for specific coverage information.



REFERENCES

1. Ledbetter L, Burns J, Shih R, Ajam A, Brown M et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Cerebrovascular Diseases-Aneurysm, Vascular Malformation, and Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. J Am Coll Radiol. 2021; 18: S283-S304. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacr.2021.08.012.

2. Robertson R, Palasis S, Rivkin M, Pruthi S, Bartel T et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Cerebrovascular Disease-Child. J Am Coll Radiol. May 2020; 17: S36-s54. 10.1016/j.jacr.2020.01.036.

3. Hoh B, Ko N, Amin-Hanjani S, Chou S, Cruz-Flores S et al. 2023 Guideline for the Management of Patients with Aneurysmal Subarachnoid Hemorrhage: A Guideline from the American Heart Association/ American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2023; 54: e314-e370. 10.1161/STR.00000000000436.

4. Brown R J, Huston J, Hornung R, Foroud T, Kallmes D et al. Screening for brain aneurysm in the Familial Intracranial Aneurysm study: frequency and predictors of lesion detection. J Neurosurg. Jun 2008; 108: 1132-8. 10.3171/jns/2008/108/6/1132.

5. Risks and benefits of screening for intracranial aneurysms in first-degree relatives of patients with sporadic subarachnoid hemorrhage. N Engl J Med. 1999; 341: 1344-50. 10.1056/nejm199910283411803.

6. Rinkel G, Ruigrok Y. Preventive screening for intracranial aneurysms. Int J Stroke. Jan 2022; 17: 30-36. 10.1177/17474930211024584.

7. Egbe A, Padang R, Brown R, Khan A, Luis S et al. Prevalence and predictors of intracranial aneurysms in patients with bicuspid aortic valve. Heart. Oct 2017; 103: 1508-1514. 10.1136/heartjnl-2016-311076.

8. Hitchcock E, Gibson W. A Review of the Genetics of Intracranial Berry Aneurysms and Implications for Genetic Counseling. J Genet Couns. Feb 2017; 26: 21-31. 10.1007/s10897-016-0029-8.

9. Jung W, Kim J, Ahn S, Song S, Kim B et al. Prevalence of Intracranial Aneurysms in Patients with Aortic Dissection. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. Nov 2017; 38: 2089-2093. 10.3174/ajnr.A5359.

10. Pickard S, Prakash A, Newburger J, Malek A, Wong J. Screening for Intracranial Aneurysms in Coarctation of the Aorta: A Decision and Cost-Effectiveness Analysis. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2020; 13: e006406. 10.1161/CIRCOUTCOMES.119.006406.

11. Rouchaud A, Brandt M, Rydberg A, Kadirvel R, Flemming K et al. Prevalence of Intracranial Aneurysms in Patients with Aortic Aneurysms. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. Sep 2016; 37: 1664-8. 10.3174/ajnr.A4827.

12. Hayes S, Kim E, Saw J, Adlam D, Arslanian-Engoren C et al. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissection: Current State of the Science: A Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. May 8, 2018; 137: e523-e557. 10.1161/cir.00000000000564.

13. International Headache Society. Headache Classification Committee of the International Headache Society (IHS) The International Classification of Headache Disorders, 3rd edition. Cephalalgia. 2018; 38: 1-211. 10.1177/0333102417738202.

14. Hayes L, Palasis S, Bartel T, Booth T, Iyer R et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Headache-Child. J Am Coll Radiol. 2018; 15: S78-S90. 10.1016/j.jacr.2018.03.017.

15. Chen C, Fuh J. Evaluating thunderclap headache. Curr Opin Neurol. Jun 1, 2021; 34: 356-362. 10.1097/wco.0000000000000017.

16. Utukuri P, Shih R, Ajam A, Callahan K, Chen D et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Headache: 2022 Update. J Am Coll Radiol. 2023; 20: S70-S93. 10.1016/j.jacr.2023.02.018.

Page 18 of 22



17. Marcolini E, Hine J. Approach to the Diagnosis and Management of Subarachnoid Hemorrhage. West J Emerg Med. Mar 2019; 20: 203-211. 10.5811/westjem.2019.1.37352.

18. Thompson B, Brown Jr R, Amin-Hanjani S, Broderick J, Cockroft K et al. Guidelines for the Management of Patients with Unruptured Intracranial Aneurysms: A Guideline for Healthcare Professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2015; 46: 2368-400. 10.1161/STR.000000000000000000.

19. Pula J, Kwan K, Yuen C, Kattah J. Update on the evaluation of transient vision loss. Clin Ophthalmol. 2016; 10: 297-303. 10.2147/opth.S94971.

20. Kim J D, Hashemi N, Gelman R, Lee A G. Neuroimaging in ophthalmology. Saudi J Ophthalmol. 2012; 26: 401-7. 10.1016/j.sjopt.2012.07.001.

21. Hofmann E, Behr R, Neumann-Haefelin T, Schwager K. Pulsatile tinnitus: imaging and differential diagnosis. Dtsch Arztebl Int. Jun 2013; 110: 451-8. 10.3238/arztebl.2013.0451.

22. Pegge S, Steens S, Kunst H, Meijer F. Pulsatile Tinnitus: Differential Diagnosis and Radiological Work-Up. Curr Radiol Rep. 2017; 5: 5. 10.1007/s40134-017-0199-7.

23. Kleindorfer D, Towfighi A, Chaturvedi S, Cockroft K, Gutierrez J et al. 2021 Guideline for the Prevention of Stroke in Patients with Stroke and Transient Ischemic Attack: A Guideline from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2021; 52: e364-e467. 10.1161/STR.00000000000375.

24. Pannell J, Corey A, Shih R, Austin M, Chu S et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Cerebrovascular Diseases-Stroke and Stroke-Related Conditions. J Am Coll Radiol. 2023.

25. Searls D, Pazdera L, Korbel E, Vysata O, Caplan L. Symptoms and signs of posterior circulation ischemia in the new England medical center posterior circulation registry. Arch Neurol. Mar 2012; 69: 346-51. 10.1001/archneurol.2011.2083.

26. Lima Neto A, Bittar R, Gattas G, Bor-Seng-Shu E, Oliveira M et al. Pathophysiology and Diagnosis of Vertebrobasilar Insufficiency: A Review of the Literature. Int Arch Otorhinolaryngol. Jul 2017; 21: 302-307. 10.1055/s-0036-1593448.

27. Pirau L, Lui F. Vertebrobasilar Insufficiency. StatPearls Publishing. 2023.

28. Wang L, Thompson T, Shih R, Ajam A, Bulsara K et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Dizziness and Ataxia. J Am Coll Radiol. 2023.

29. Franz R W, Willette P A, Wood M J, Wright M L, Hartman J F. A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis of Diagnostic Screening Criteria for Blunt Cerebrovascular Injuries. Journal of the American College of Surgeons. 2012; 214: doi:10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2011.11.012.

30. Shakir H J, Davies J M, Shallwani H, Siddiqui A H, Levy E I. Carotid and Vertebral Dissection Imaging. Current Pain and Headache Reports. 2016; 20: true. 10.1007/s11916-016-0593-5.

31. Walecki J, Mruk B, Nawrocka-Laskus E, Piliszek A, Przelaskowski A. Neuroimaging of Cerebral Venous Thrombosis (CVT) - Old Dilemma and the New Diagnostic Methods. Pol J Radiol. 2015; 80: 368-73. 10.12659/pjr.894386.

32. Thust S, Burke C, Siddiqui A. Neuroimaging findings in sickle cell disease. Br J Radiol. 2014; 87: 20130699. 10.1259/bjr.20130699.

33. Zuccoli G, Pipitone N, Haldipur A, Brown R J, Hunder G. Imaging findings in primary central nervous system vasculitis. Clin Exp Rheumatol. Jan-Feb 2011; 29: S104-9.

34. Godasi R, Pang G, Chauhan S, Bollu P. Primary Central Nervous System Vasculitis [Updated 2023]. StatPearls Publishing. 2023.

Page 19 of 22



35. Abdel Razek A A K, Alvarez H, Bagg S, Refaat S, Castillo M. Imaging spectrum of CNS vasculitis. Radiographics. 2014; 34: 873-94. 10.1148/rg.344135028.

36. Halbach C, McClelland C M, Chen J, Li S, Lee M S. Use of Noninvasive Imaging in Giant Cell Arteritis. Asia Pac J Ophthalmol (Phila). 2018; 7: 260-264. 10.22608/APO.2018133.

37. Khan A, Dasgupta B. Imaging in Giant Cell Arteritis. Curr Rheumatol Rep. 2015; 17: 52. 10.1007/s11926-015-0527-y.

38. Koster M J, Matteson E L, Warrington K J. Large-vessel giant cell arteritis: diagnosis, monitoring and management. Rheumatology (Oxford). 2018; 57: ii32-ii42. 10.1093/rheumatology/kex424.

39. Maz M, Chung S, Abril A, Langford C, Gorelik M et al. 2021 American College of Rheumatology/Vasculitis Foundation Guideline for the Management of Giant Cell Arteritis and Takayasu Arteritis. Arthritis Rheumatol. 2021; 73: 1349-1365. 10.1002/art.41774.

40. Robertson R, Palasis S, Rivkin M, Pruthi S, Bartel T et al. ACR Appropriateness Criteria® Cerebrovascular Disease-Child. J Am Coll Radiol. 2020; 17: S36-S54. 10.1016/j.jacr.2020.01.036.

41. Gonzalez N, Amin-Hanjani S, Bang O, Coffey C, Du R et al. Adult Moyamoya Disease and Syndrome: Current Perspectives and Future Directions: A Scientific Statement from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2023; 54: e465-e479. 10.1161/STR.000000000000443.

42. Burton T, Bushnell C. Reversible Cerebral Vasoconstriction Syndrome. Stroke. 2019; 50: 2253-2258. 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.024416.

43. Edjlali M, Qiao Y, Boulouis G, Menjot N, Saba L et al. Vessel wall MR imaging for the detection of intracranial inflammatory vasculopathies. Cardiovasc Diagn Ther. 2020; 10: 1108-1119. 10.21037/cdt-20-324.

44. Patel S, Haynes R, Staff I, Tunguturi A, Elmoursi D. Recanalization of cervicocephalic artery dissection. Brain circulation. 2020; 6: 175-180. doi:10.4103/bc.bc_19_20.

45. Larsson S, King A, Madigan J, Levi C, Norris J. Prognosis of carotid dissecting aneurysms: Results from CADISS and a systematic review. Neurology. 2017; 88: 646-652. doi:10.1212/wnl.00000000003617.

46. Ancelet C, Boulouis G, Blauwblomme T, Kossorotoff M, Rodriguez-Regent C et al. [Imaging Moya-Moya disease]. Rev Neurol (Paris). Jan 2015; 171: 45-57. 10.1016/j.neurol.2014.11.004.

47. Singhal A, Topcuoglu M, Fok J, Kursun O, Nogueira R et al. Reversible cerebral vasoconstriction syndromes and primary angiitis of the central nervous system: clinical, imaging, and angiographic comparison. Ann Neurol. Jun 2016; 79: 882-94. 10.1002/ana.24652.

48. Tarasów E, Kułakowska A, Lukasiewicz A, Kapica-Topczewska K, Korneluk-Sadzyńska A et al. Moyamoya disease: Diagnostic imaging. Pol J Radiol. Jan 2011; 76: 73-9.

49. Haller S, Etienne L, Kövari E, Varoquaux A D, Urbach H. Imaging of Neurovascular Compression Syndromes: Trigeminal Neuralgia, Hemifacial Spasm, Vestibular Paroxysmia, and Glossopharyngeal Neuralgia. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2016; 37: 1384-92. 10.3174/ajnr.A4683.

50. Hermier M. Imaging of hemifacial spasm. Neurochirurgie. 2018; 64: 117-123. 10.1016/j.neuchi.2018.01.005.

51. Sanelli P C, Mifsud M J, Stieg P E. Role of CT angiography in guiding management decisions of newly diagnosed and residual arteriovenous malformations. AJR Am J Roentgenol. 2004; 183: 1123-6. 10.2214/ajr.183.4.1831123.

Page 20 of 22



52. Wallace R C, Karis J P, Partovi S, Fiorella D. Noninvasive imaging of treated cerebral aneurysms, Part II: CT angiographic follow-up of surgically clipped aneurysms. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. 2007; 28: 1207-12. 10.3174/ajnr.A0664.

53. Gornik H L, Persu A, Adlam D, Aparicio L S, Azizi M et al. First International Consensus on the diagnosis and management of fibromuscular dysplasia. Vascular medicine (London, England). 2019; 24: 164-189.

54. Kesav P, Manesh Raj D, John S. Cerebrovascular Fibromuscular Dysplasia - A Practical Review. Vascular health and risk management. 2023; 19: 543-556. 10.2147/VHRM.S388257.

55. Bowen J M, Hernandez M, Johnson D S, Green C, Kammin T et al. Diagnosis and management of vascular Ehlers-Danlos syndrome: Experience of the UK. European journal of human genetics: EJHG. 2023; 31: 749-760. 10.1038/s41431-023-01343-7.

56. Byers P. Vascular Ehlers-Danlos Syndrome. 1999 Sep 2 [Updated 2019 Feb 21]. GeneReviews® [Internet]. 2019.

57. Loeys B, Dietz H. Loeys-Dietz Syndrome. 2008 Feb 28 [Updated 2018 Mar 1]. GeneReviews® [Internet]. 2018.

58. Thust S, Burke C, Siddiqui A. Neuroimaging findings in sickle cell disease. Br J Radiol. Aug 2014; 87: 20130699. 10.1259/bjr.20130699.

59. Goodfriend S, Tadi P, P, Koury R. Carotid Artery Dissection. StatPearls Publishing. 2022.

60. Britt T, Agarwal S. Vertebral Artery Dissection. StatPearls Publishing. 2023.

61. Harrigan M. Ischemic Stroke due to Blunt Traumatic Cerebrovascular Injury. Stroke. 2020; 51: 353-360. 10.1161/STROKEAHA.119.026810.

62. Franz R, Willette P, Wood M, Wright M, Hartman J. A systematic review and meta-analysis of diagnostic screening criteria for blunt cerebrovascular injuries. J Am Coll Surg. Mar 2012; 214: 313-27. 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2011.11.012.

63. Shakir H, Davies J, Shallwani H, Siddiqui A, Levy E. Carotid and Vertebral Dissection Imaging. Curr Pain Headache Rep. Dec 2016; 20: 68. 10.1007/s11916-016-0593-5.

64. Larsson S, King A, Madigan J, Levi C, Norris J. Prognosis of carotid dissecting aneurysms: Results from CADISS and a systematic review. Neurology. Feb 14, 2017; 88: 646-652. 10.1212/wnl.000000000003617.

65. Patel S, Haynes R, Staff I, Tunguturi A, Elmoursi S. Recanalization of cervicocephalic artery dissection. Brain Circ. Jul-Sep 2020; 6: 175-180. 10.4103/bc.bc_19_20.

66. Saposnik G, Barinagarrementeria F, Brown R J, Bushnell C, Cucchiara B et al. Diagnosis and management of cerebral venous thrombosis: a statement for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. Apr 2011; 42: 1158-92. 10.1161/STR.0b013e31820a8364.

67. DaCosta M, Tadi P, Surowiec S. Carotid Endarterectomy. StatPearls Publishing. 2023.

68. Brott T, Halperin J, Abbara S, Bacharach J, Barr J et al. 2011 ASA/ACCF/AHA/AANN/AANS/ACR/ASNR/CNS/ SAIP/SCAI/SIR/SNIS/SVM/SVS Guideline on the Management of Patients with Extracranial Carotid and Vertebral Artery Disease. Stroke. 2011; 42: e464-540. 10.1161/STR.0b013e3182112cc2.

69. Marquardt L, Geraghty O, Mehta Z, Rothwell P. Low risk of ipsilateral stroke in patients with asymptomatic carotid stenosis on best medical treatment: a prospective, population-based study. Stroke. Jan 2010; 41: e11-7. 10.1161/strokeaha.109.561837.

Page 21 of 22



70. Rerkasem K, Rothwell P. Carotid endarterectomy for symptomatic carotid stenosis. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. Apr 13, 2011; Cd001081. 10.1002/14651858.CD001081.pub2.

71. Teruzzi G, Santagostino Baldi G, Gili S, Guarnieri G, Montorsi P. Spontaneous Coronary Artery Dissections: A Systematic Review. Journal of clinical medicine. 2021; 10: 10.3390/jcm10245925.

72. Lee M, Kim M. Image findings in brain developmental venous anomalies. J Cerebrovasc Endovasc Neurosurg. Mar 2012; 14: 37-43. 10.7461/jcen.2012.14.1.37.

73. van Beijnum J, van der Worp H, Algra A, Vandertop W, van den Berg R et al. Prevalence of brain arteriovenous malformations in first-degree relatives of patients with a brain arteriovenous malformation. Stroke. 2014; 45: 3231-5. 10.1161/STROKEAHA.114.005442.

74. Kernan W, Ovbiagele B, Black H, Bravata D, Chimowitz M et al. Guidelines for the prevention of stroke in patients with stroke and transient ischemic attack: a guideline for healthcare professionals from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. Jul 2014; 45: 2160-236. 10.1161/str.00000000000024.

75. Wintermark M, Sanelli P, Albers G, Bello J, Derdeyn C et al. Imaging recommendations for acute stroke and transient ischemic attack patients: A joint statement by the American Society of Neuroradiology, the American College of Radiology, and the Society of NeuroInterventional Surgery. AJNR Am J Neuroradiol. Nov-Dec 2013; 34: E117-27. 10.3174/ajnr.A3690.

76. Greenberg S, Ziai W, Cordonnier C, Dowlatshahi D, Francis B et al. 2022 Guideline for the Management of Patients with Spontaneous Intracerebral Hemorrhage: A Guideline from the American Heart Association/American Stroke Association. Stroke. 2022; 53: e282-e361. 10.1161/STR.00000000000000407.

77. Bushnell C, Saposnik G. Evaluation and management of cerebral venous thrombosis. Continuum (Minneap Minn). Apr 2014; 20: 335-51. 10.1212/01.CON.0000446105.67173.a8.

78. Coutinho J. Cerebral venous thrombosis. J Thromb Haemost. Jun 2015; 13 Suppl 1: S238-44. 10.1111/jth.12945.

79. Ferro J, Canhão P, Aguiar de Sousa D. Cerebral venous thrombosis. Presse Med. Dec 2016; 45: e429-e450. 10.1016/j.lpm.2016.10.007.

80. Simon L, Nassar A, Mohseni M. Vertebral Artery Injury. StatPearls Publishing. 2024.

81. Liang T, Tso D, Chiu R, Nicolaou S. Imaging of blunt vascular neck injuries: a review of screening and imaging modalities. AJR Am J Roentgenol. Oct 2013; 201: 884-92. 10.2214/ajr.12.9664.

82. Mundinger G, Dorafshar A, Gilson M, Mithani S, Manson P. Blunt-mechanism facial fracture patterns associated with internal carotid artery injuries: recommendations for additional screening criteria based on analysis of 4,398 patients. J Oral Maxillofac Surg. Dec 2013; 71: 2092-100. 10.1016/j.joms.2013.07.005.

83. Nash M, Rafay M. Craniocervical Arterial Dissection in Children: Pathophysiology and Management. Pediatr Neurol. Jun 2019; 95: 9-18. 10.1016/j.pediatrneurol.2019.01.020.